IDENTITY OF PETITIONER 

Petitioner, Dr. Thomas Ryan, was the defendant in the trial court in 

this medical malpractice action. He asks this Court to accept discretionary 

review of the decision from Division One dated October 14, 2013. The 

Court of Appeals denied a timely filed Motion to Publish on December 3, 

2013. The Court's unpublished decision is contained in Appendix A. 

As argued below, the decision conflicts with opinions from this court, 

with other decisions of the Courts of Appeals. In addition, the decision 

raises issues of substantial public importance regarding the integrity of the 

court system which should be determined by the Supreme Court. For 

these reasons and those discussed below, Dr. Ryan respectfully requests 

that this Court accept discretionary review and reverse the decision of the 

Court of Appeals. 

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

1. Does the question of whether a trial court may allow a party to 

alter medical records necessary to prove defendant's theory of the case in 

order to shield the plaintiff from the consequences of a voluntary act of 

dishonesty committed by the plaintiff at the time of treatment by the 
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defendant create an issue of substantial public importance that should be 

addressed by this court? 

2. Does the court of appeals decision to allow the admission of 

altered medical records conflict with decisions of this court and other 

courts of appeals by using ER 403 to exclude the use of objective 

evidence of the plaintiffs condition at the time of treatment even though 

that evidence was essential to the defense? 

3. Is the Court of Appeals required to address all legal arguments of 

the appellant prior to affirming the trial court's decision? 

4. Did the Court of Appeals commit an error of law when it failed to 

address the issue of whether, and to what extent, a party waives an 

evidentiary objection based on habit and routine? 

5. Does the Court of Appeals decision, which affirms a trial court 

ruling which improperly limited the scope of Dr. Ryan's direct testimony 

under ER 406 conflict with decisions of this comt and raise issues of 

substantial public importance in light of the fact the plaintiff admitted he 

used habit and routine evidence tactically in his opening, direct and cross 

examination of witnesses? 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 
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On October 3, 2005, at 1350 hours (1 :50 p.m.) a Hispanic 

gentleman identifying himself as Seku Montana-Linares arrived at the 

Highline Medical Specialty1 Center emergency room complaining of 

abdominal pain. CP 443. He gave his date ofbirth as 07-10-68, and 

provided a driver's license with his picture and the name Seku Montana-

Linares. CP 443; Ex. 11. The patient was Bernardo Figueroa. He signed 

the ER admission papers with the Seku name, using the falsified driver's 

license to support this fraudulent act. CP 442; Ex. 11. Although plaintiffs 

wife, Rosa, drove him to the hospital, he gave a different name as next of 

kin and listed his marital status as single. CP 442. 

Dr. Thomas Ryan was the emergency room physician on duty. He 

is a board certified emergency physician who has practiced at the Highline 

Hospital Special Campus ER since 1984. See VRP 756; CP 393. As is 

common with emergency room physicians, especially when a case is 

litigated years after the event, Dr. Ryan had no independent recall of the 

plaintiff or the events associated with the plaintiffs medical event. VRP 

753; 798. 

The medical records show that Dr. Ryan was concerned the patient 

had a possible ruptured appendix and that he ordered aCT of the patient's 

abdomen. VRP 810. To assist in obtaining the best view of the appendix, 

1 Highline maintains emergency rooms at both its Specialty Center located in 
Tukwila Washington and at its main campus located in Burien. 
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the radiology department injected a radio contrast dye into an IV site on 

the plaintiffs right hand. VRP 298-99.2 The radiology department later 

reported that approximately 60 ml's (a little over 2 fluid ounces) escaped 

from the vein. VRP 326; CP 445. The term for this event is 

"extravasation". VRP 326. An extravasation is a leak from the vein of 

contrast fluid. I d. Leakage of contrast fluid from a vein to the 

surrounding tissue can damage the tissue if the fluid is an irritant. VRP 

300-01. Most often, however, the body reacts with swelling and some 

pain, but eventually absorbs the dye. VRP 318. The treatment for 

extravasation consists of ice, elevation, and observation all of which Dr. 

Ryan and the nurses provided for Mr. Figueroa. CP 445; VRP 311. 

In a very few cases, a patient with an extravasation injury may 

develop a serious complication, a compartment syndrome.3 Only one in 

170,000 extravasations will cause this complication. VRP 588. The 

plaintiff's expert agreed it "would be an uncommon complication." VRP 

392. 

A compartment syndrome occurs when the muscle swells so much 

that its expansion becomes limited by the relatively inelastic fibrous 

2 See also, VRP 396-97. [Plaintiffs expert admitting that attending physician has 
nothing to do with infusing contrast material.] 
3 Compartment syndromes are not in and of themselves rare only the mechanism 
by which it occurred here. The testimony established that compartment 
syndromes are much more frequently seen as a result of trauma. VRP 818-19. 
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capsule in which it is enclosed, the fascia. See VRP 304-05. The 

expansion within the compartment causes the pressure within it to rise. /d. 

Initially that process may cause the veins, which are low pressure, to 

collapse. If the swelling and therefore the pressure continues to rise, the 

process impedes the flow of blood being brought into the muscle by the 

arteries. /d. 

The treatment for compartment syndrome, once it occurs, is a 

fasciotomy, a surgery where the surgeon slices through the fascia so the 

swelling can expand to the level it needs to reduce the pressure on the 

tissue and vessels inside. VRP 307-08. Once a compartment syndrome 

occurs, the only treatment is to perform the fasciotomy. VRP 308. 

Ultimately, Mr. Figueroa's CT was repmted as negative, ruling out 

an acute appendix. Dr. Ryan treated the abdominal symptoms and the 

extravasation injury. Plaintiff's arm was elevated, ice applied to reduce 

swelling and Dr. Ryan ordered a single dose of pain medication. CP 445-

48. According to the nurse caring for the patient, plaintiffs swelling and 

discomfort decreased. 4 CP 445. This is important because all the 

testifying experts agreed that compartment syndrome does not get better 

and then worse. Rather "it is a steady downhill course." VRP 430 

4 Plaintiffs' expert disputed this conclusion, dismissing the nurse's note with the 
contention that one could not observe swelling decrease and that the movement 
of the fingers was the result of the pain medication. VRP 430. 
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[Plaintiffs' expert Zafren.] It is a progressive problem that does not start, 

get better, start again and get worse. VRP 642. [Dr. Ronald Dobson, 

defense expert.] 

The nursing notes document that the patient reported he could 

"move my fmgers" at 16:45. CP 445. Consistent with that comment, the 

patient provided a urine sample at 17: 1 0, an act that required the use of at 

least one functional hand.5 Id. 

He was discharged at 1718 (5:18p.m.). At the time of his 

discharge, the patient signed his discharge instructions with his right hand, 

the hand with the extravasation injury. CP 453; VRP 541. Had plaintiffs 

hand been swollen to the degree consistent with compartment syndrome, 

he would not be able to pick up a pen and sign a document. VRP 785-86. 

Plaintiff, however, signed both the admission papers and the 

discharge papers using the name on his falsified Washington State 

Driver's license, Seku Montana. CP 442-43; 453. His signature on 

admission prior to the extravasation and his signature on the discharge 

papers are virtually identical. This objective evidence illustrated clearly 

that plaintiff's hand was functional at the time of discharge. Cf. CP 59 

and 61 ; Appendix A. 

5 At the time, the patient was wearing a splint on his left arm because of his 2003 
industrial injury. CP 444. 
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At 2140 (9:40p.m.), over 4 hours after his discharge, Mr. Figueroa 

returned to the emergency room, with complaints of right forearm pain, 

numbness and swelling. CP 456. He was admitted and transferred to the 

main campus with a diagnosis of"compartment syndrome". CP 459. A 

surgeon, Dr. Vincent Muoneke, performed the required fasciotomy to 

relieve internal arm pressure on the muscles and nerves. CP 4 71. This 

operation was successful and plaintiff was discharged on October 4, 2005. 

Id. He received follow-up treatment, including subsequent skin grafts. 

Ex. 1. His medical records establish he had good healing and that he had 

aggressive physical therapy. Ex. 1. 

The original suit named both the hospital, Highline Medical 

Center, the emergency room doctor, Dr. Thomas Ryan, and his practice, 

Highline Emergency Physicians, PLLC. CP 1-9. It alleged that Dr. Ryan 

improperly discharged the plaintiff with a compartment syndrome, which 

if it had been treated at the time would have resulted in no pe1manent 

injury. CP 5. The complaint further alleged that the plaintiff had suffered 

permanent paralysis in his arm. CP 5. The plaintiff averred this "created 

a substantial problem for Mr. Figueroa since his other arm had been 

permanently paralyzed when he was electrocuted on the job. CP 5. 

Prior to trial, the plaintiff moved to exclude testimony and documents 

showing the use of the false driver's license and the forged signature. CP 
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21.6 These records were part of the Defendants' Exhibit 11/ the original 

medical records of the plaintiff. The defense objected to exclusion of 

the evidence, arguing the information was highly relevant to the plaintiffs' 

credibility, a critical issue in the case. Based in part on the reasoning in 

Silas v. Hi-Tech Erectors, 168 Wn.2d 664, 670, 230 P. 3d 583 (2010), the 

trial court ruled that the information had overwhelming potential for 

prejudice that would distract the jury from dealing with the issues they had 

to deal with, "the claims of medical malpractice." VRP 6. 

The court allowed the Plaintiffs to redact the signature lines of both the 

admission and discharge records and submit the medical records with the 

signatures line blank. Exhibit 1. 

Dr. Ryan' testimony was severely restricted by the trial court's ruling 

relating to habit and routine. See, e.g. VRP 787. Dr. Ryan could not 

testify about what he would have done to evaluate the plaintiffs condition 

when he returned from radiology. VRP 765. He could not testify 

concerning the number of times he would have checked on the patient. 

6 Plaintiffs' counsel referred to the use of the fake identification and identity as use of an 
"alias." CP 21-22. In fact, as argued to the trial court, the plaintiff was engaged in 
identity theft and forgery. CP 68. During his deposition, plaintiff admitted that l) the 
name belonged to a real person who lived in Mexico; 2) that he did not have permission 
to use the name; 3) that he obtained the fake identification because it was "easy'' and 
because he needed a driver's license since he lost his after driving under the influence of 
alcohol. CP 131-32; I 34. 

7 Exhibit II was the on-redacted version of the plaintiffs medical records. VRP It is not 
clear whether the Clerk retained this exhibit. The disputed pages, however, appear in the 
Clerk's Papers several times at CP 59-63; CP 442-453. 
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VRP 768. He could not testify about how he would go about making a 

patient understand he had to come back ifthere was a problem. VRP 772. 

He could not testify about the adequacy of oral instructions he would have 

given. VRP 813. He could not refute the plaintiffs' testimony he told him 

"don't worry this will go away in two or three hours." VRP 787. 

These rulings were made despite the plaintiff introducing the issue 

ofthe doctor's habit and routine into the case. The plaintiff referred to it 

in his opening statement and also asked his expert to evaluate Dr. Ryan's 

deposition testimony about his routine. VRP 173, 364. Plaintiffs counsel 

freely admitted he had, for "tactical" reasons, used Dr. Ryan's deposition 

testimony on habit and routine. VRP 833. Nonetheless, the trial judge 

refused defense counsel's request that he rule the objection had been 

waived. VRP 833-34. 

The jury returned a verdict in favor of the plaintiff which was 

affirmed entirely in an unpublished decision of the Court of Appeals. 

ARGUMENT 

RAP 13.4(b) sets out the considerations governing acceptance of 

review. RAP 13.4 (b) (1) and (2) note that a petition for review will be 

accepted by the Supreme court only if the decision conflicts with a 

decision of the Supreme Comt or another decision of the Court of 
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Appeals. RAP 13.4(b) (4) allows acceptance of review where the petition 

involves an issue of substantial public importance that should be 

determined by the Supreme Court. The Court of Appeals' opinion raises 

issues of public importance involving the extent a trial court may protect a 

litigant against his own dishonest acts; the nature and extent of habit and 

routine evidence in medical malpractice actions involving emergency 

room physicians and the fairness of allowing one party to tactically use 

evidence that the other side is then prohibited from presenting in a 

coherent, effective fashion. 

The Court's opinion is the first detailed analysis ofER 406 as it 

applies to medical malpractice trials. ER 406, as it applies in medical 

malpractice actions, is an issue which arises frequently in trial of such 

cases. Emergency room physicians in particular develop habits and 

routines to deal with the great volume of patients that they see. As 

established by the testimony of Dr. Dobson, a typical emergency room 

physician sees three to four thousand patients a year and develops routines 

to handle that caseload. See VRP at 610-11. They are extremely unlikely 

to remember a pruticular patient and must rely upon their routines and 

habits as taught in medical school. 

Not every act can be documented in medical records. There are 

many everyday tasks that a doctor does that are never documented. For 
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instance, before every surgery, a surgeon scrubs, puts on a cap and mask 

and a surgical gown. No operative reports contain this detail, yet the 

conduct occurs as a matter of routine. 

Similarly, every doctor develops their own dialogue with patients. 

There are things they do and do not say to their patients. Dr. Ryan had 

such scripts, but was unable to discuss them. The court's narrow 

interpretation of the rule prevented Dr. Ryan from refuting the plaintiffs 

contention that he had told him "don't worry, this will go away in two or 

three hours." VRP 787. 

The existing published cases do not address habit and routine in 

the context of medical malpractice actions, yet such routines are part of 

the fundamental education of the physician that they use daily. This is 

especially true of emergency room physicians who encounter thousands of 

patients every year. These doctors depend on habit and routine to ensure 

the quality of their care, yet the court's narrow interpretation of the rule 

prohibits emergency physicians from infmming the jury of these routines. 

lfER 406 is to be construed so narrowly, a published decision 

from the Supreme Court is needed to ensure compliance with that rule and 
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that healthcare professionals are alerted that such testimony will no longer 

be allowed. 8 

In addition, the Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with the 

decision of the Supreme Court and other courts of appeals in that it allows 

ER 403 to be used to deny one party objective evidence that is critical to 

his defense. The court's decision regarding the exclusion of the objective 

evidence of the fact the plaintiff's hand was fully functional at the time of 

discharge implicates the public's interest in the integrity of the judicial 

process. 

The exclusion of the medical records with the plaintiff's signature 

also denied Dr. Ryan the only objective evidence that the plaintiff did not 

have a compartment syndrome at the time of discharge. Again, this issue 

was not discussed in the court's opinion. The court's decision to apply ER 

403 in this manner conflicts with multiple decisions of the Supreme Court 

and the Courts of Appeal. See, e.g., Carson v. Fine, 123 Wn.2d 206, 

224, 867 P.2d 610 (1994). ("The ability of the danger or unfair prejudice 

8 
In an argument not addressed by the court, the appellant argued that it was 

fundamentally unfair for a party to use the doctor's habit and routine as the foundation of 
his own expert's standard of care criticism and then tum around and prevent defense 
counsel from exploring the same topic in a cohesive, comprehensive manner. This 
waiver argument was set out fully in the opening brief at pages 36-37. The plaintiff 
ignored this argument and did not address it in his response. Despite the lack of 
argument by plaintiff, this court resolved the habit and routine issue against the defense 
without discussing the uneven application of ER 406 or the waiver argument. This issue 
also would have been one of first impression. 
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to substantially outweigh the probative force of evidence is 'quite slim' 

where the evidence is undeniably probative of a central issue in the case.") 

Carson, 123 Wn.2d at 224, citing United States v. 0.161 Acres of Land, 

837 F. 2d 1036, 1041 (11 1
h Cir. 1988). See also, State v. Brown, 48 Wn.2d 

654, 660, 739 P.2d 1199(1987). ("ER 403 does not extend to the 

exclusion of crucial evidence relative to the central contention of a valid 

defense.") United States v. Wasman, 641 F.2d 326 (5th Cir. 1981))." 

State v. Young, 48 Wn. App. 406, 413, 739 P.2d 1170 (1987). 

The court's opinion also conflicts with its decision in Erickson v. 

Kerr, 69 Wn. App. 891, 902, 851 P.2d 703 (1993) where the court noted 

that it was error to exclude credibility evidence when it went to the heart 

of the medical malpractice case. The Supreme Court agreed, ruling 

prejudicial impact of the testimony "cannot be reasonably found to 

substantially outweigh its relevance." Erickson v. Kerr, 125 Wn.2d 183, 

190-91, 883 P.2d 313 (1994). Citing Carson, supra, and State v. 

Crensltaw, 98 Wn.2d 789, 806,659 P.2d 488(1983), the Supreme Court 

observed that "courts readily admit such prejudicial evidence under 

similar circumstances." Id. 

These cases recognize that the use ofER 403 has limits. Never 

before has the rule been used to prohibit introduction of objective 

evidence establishing a medical condition. Never before has ER 403 been 
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interpreted in such a way as to preclude information essential to establish a 

defense or an essential element of the other party's case. IfER 403 is to 

be interpreted in the broad fashion inherent in the cowt's tuling, then this 

decision should come from the State Supreme Court in a published 

decision so that trial courts and litigants are aware of the breadth of the 

rule. 

Finally, this case raises issues regarding the integrity of the judicial 

system. The public can have no faith in a system which allows a party to 

profit from his own dishonesty. In the present case the trial court 

protected the plaintiff from the consequences ofhis own dishonesty at the 

time of his treatment. (Defense Exhibit 11). This is the same witness who 

lied about his criminal record during his deposition (Compare CP 23 with 

CP 137) and lied at trial about the extent of his injury. Nonetheless he 

will be allowed to profit from those lies by obtaining a verdict in his favor. 

(Compare VRP 487-493 and Exhibit 22). 

The trial court's decision to exclude the evidence, even though the 

entire theory ofliability rests upon the plaintiffs deposition and trial 

testimony regarding the condition of his hand at the time of discharge, is 

fundamentally unfair to Dr. Ryan and detrimental to the integrity of the 

court system. The general public endorses the simple proposition that liars 

must not be allowed to profit from their lies. But the plaintiff here was 
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allowed to profit, despite his lies. Because this verdict sanctions the use of 

false testimony, if this is truly the law of the State of Washington, that 

decision should come from the Supreme Court. Dr. Ryan respectfully 

requests that review be granted. 

f~ 
Dated this~ay of January, 2014. 

ITZER, LEIGHT FITZER, P.S. 
Bertha B. Fitzer, WSB # 12184 
Attorney for Appellant 
bertha@fitzerlaw. com 
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IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON 

BERNARDO FIGUEROA and ROSA ) 
FIGUEROA, husband and wife, ) 

Respondents, 

v. 

HIGHLINE MEDICAL CENTER, a 
Washington non-profit corporation, 

Defendant, 

THOMAS RYAN, M.D., 

Appellant, 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

and HIGHLINE EMERGENCY ) 
PHYSICIANS, PLLC, a Washington ) 
Professional Limited Liability Company, ) 

Defendant. 
) 
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No. 68272-5-1 

DIVISION ONE 

UNPUBLISHED OPINION 

FILED: October 14, 2013 
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GROSSE, J. -Generally, all relevant evidence is admissible except as 

limited by constitution, statute, or other evidentiary rule. 1 In a medical 

malpractice suit, physicians may testify as to their professional conduct that is 

repeatedly and consistently performed when treating persons with similar 

symptoms so long as it is relevant. Here, the trial court did not abuse its 

discretion in excluding certain evidence offered by defendant-physician because 

the conduct described did not meet the standard for habit evidence. 

Nor did the trial court abuse its discretion in its other evidentiary rulings or 

in declining to give an instruction proffered by the defendant-physician, 

particularly here, where the Jury received proper standard of care instructions and 

1 See ER 401. 
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was accurately instructed on the law and permitted the defendant-physician to 

argue his theory of the case. The trial court is affirmed. 

FACTS 

At approximately 3:00 p.m., on October 3, 2005, Bernardo Figueroa's wife, 

Rosa, drove him to Highland Hospital's emergency room because he was 

experiencing abdominal pain. Dr. Thomas Ryan examined Figueroa and ordered 

a computed tomography (CT) scan to rule out appendicitis. An intravenous (IV) 

needle was attached to Figueroa's right hand. When contrast dye was injected, 

Figueroa experienced a great deal of pain. Approximately 60 milliliters of the IV 

fluid with the contrast dye escaped from the vein. The medical term for this event 

is extravasation. Usually extravasation results in swelling and pain, which is 

treated by ice, elevation, and observation. In rare instances, extravasation can 

result in compartment syndrome, which, if left untreated, can result in the 

collapse of the veins.2 The treatment for compartment syndrome is a fasciotomy, 

a surgery in which the fascia (connective tissue) surrounding the veins is cut until 

the pressure decreases and the affected vessels can re-expand. If not treated in 

a timely manner, compartment syndrome can cause partial paralysis. 

After the IV was removed, Figueroa returned to the emergency room with 

extravasation, still experiencing pain and swelling in his arm. His arm was 

elevated and ice was applied to reduce swelling. Dr. Ryan ordered a Demerol 

injection for pain, after which Figueroa experienced less pain. The CT scan 

result was negative for appendicitis and Figueroa was discharged at 5:28 p.m. 

2 Compartment is a part of the body that is enclosed by thick connective tissue. 
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Figueroa continued to experience pain at home and when it became 

unbearable, he returned to the emergency room at 9:40 p.m. Figueroa 

presented with forearm pain, numbness, and swelling. Figueroa was diagnosed 

with compartment syndrome and was immediately transferred to the Burien 

Hospital campus for surgery, where Dr. Vincent Muoneke performed an 

emergency fasciotomy approximately eight hours after the extravasation. 

In the following days, Figueroa continued to experience problems with his 

arm and was referred to Dr. Clark for a second opinion. Dr. Clark observed that, 

because the operation took place over six hours after the extravasation, the 

operation did not totally repair the damage from the compartment syndrome. 

Because of this injury, Figueroa continues to experience "decreased motion, 

significant stiffness and continued pain as well as parathesia in the median nerve 

distribution . . . . n 

At trial, the defense sought to impeach Figueroa's description of his 

inability to perform certain actions by showing a video recording of Figueroa 

performing some operations with his arm that he claimed he was unable to do. 

Figueroa offered rebuttal testimony explaining some of those actions. The matter 

went to the jury who found for Figueroa and awarded him $122,000.00. 

Dr. Ryan appeals, raising a variety of evidentiary rulings and instructional 

error. 

ANALYSIS 

Dr. Ryan contends the trial court's rulings on a variety of evidentiary 

issues resulted in a one-sided presentation of evidence and prevented him from 
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defending the suit. A trial court's decisions to admit or exclude evidence are 

reviewed for abuse of discretion.3 "A trial court abuses its discretion when its 

decision 'is manifestly unreasonable or based on untenable grounds or 

reasons. '"4 

Evidence of Habit 

Dr. Ryan argues that the trial court improperly precluded him from 

testifying as to his habit and routine practice of orally instructing patients with 

compartment syndrome. Evidence of the habit of a person, whether 

corroborated or not and regardless of the presence of eyewitnesses, is relevant 

to prove that the conduct of the person on a particular occasion conformed to 

habit or routine.5 Under ER 406, relevant evidence is admissible to prove 

behavior in conformity with habit on a particular occasion.6 Washington courts 

have found a broad range of conduct to rise to the level of habit. Courts consider 

the regularity of the behavior and the surrounding circumstances in determining 

whether particular conduct rises to the level of habit, as it ls "'the notion of the 

invariable regularity that gives habit evidence its probative force."'7 In Meyers v. 

3 Salas v. Hi-Tech Erectors, 168 Wn.2d 664, 668, 230 P.3d 583 (2010}. 
4 Salas, 168 Wn.2d at 668-69 (quoting State v. Stenson, 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 
940 P.2d 1239 (1997)). 
5 ER 406. 
6 ER 406 provides: 

Evidence of the habit of a person or of the routine practice of an 
organization, whether corroborated or not and regardless of the 
presence of eyewitnesses, is relevant to prove that the conduct of 
the person or organization on a particular occasion was in 
conformity with the habit or routine practice.

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