RECEIVED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
Feb 03, 2014, 3:44 pm
BY RONALD R. CARPENTER
CLERK

E CRF

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

Washington State Supreme Court No.: 89778-6
Court of Appeals, Division I No.: 68272-5-I

IN THE WASHINGTON STATE COURT SUPREME COURT

BERNARDO FIGUEROA and ROSA FIGUEROA, husband and wife,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

VS.

THOMAS RYAN, M.D.,

Defendant/Appellant.

Appeal from the Superior Court of King County King County Superior Court No.: 08-2-43576-8 KNT

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

By:

Tyler K. Firkins, WSBA 20964
Neal R. Kingsley, WSBA 42461
VAN SICLEN, STOCKS & FIRKINS
Attorneys for Respondent
721 45th Street NE
Auburn, WA 98002
(253) 859-8899

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

V. ARGUMENT ON WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

Review will be accepted by this Court only if one or more of the factors in RAP 13(b) are met. Defendant asks this Court to accept review under RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), and (3), but fails to establish a basis for review under these factors. The Supreme Court is not, and has never been, a forum for review by parties who are simply dissatisfied with the rulings of a trial court or the Court of Appeals. Nonetheless, Defendant here attempts to rehash the same flawed arguments rejected below. There is no conflict between the Court of Appeals' Opinion and any precedent in this state, nor are any issues of public importance raised in the unpublished opinion. This Court should deny review of this case because the Court of Appeals correctly upheld the trial court's rulings.

a. There is no conflict between the Court of Appeals opinion and any other decision regarding ER 406.

The Court of Appeals correctly upheld the trial court's

discretionary decision to exclude Dr. Ryan's testimony regarding any habit or routine for an admittedly rare occurrence that Dr. Ryan has not seen before or since. As an initial matter, an appellate court may affirm the trial court on any grounds supported by the record. *In re Marriage of Rideout*, 150 Wash.2d 337, 358, 77 P.3d 1174 (2003). It is long-standing in Washington that a trial court's decision to admit or exclude evidence will be overturned only for an abuse of discretion. *State v. Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995). The facts of this case are clear that there was no such abuse.

As noted by both the Court of Appeals and the trial court, because "determination of admissibility of habit evidence is within the trial court's discretion," and "[s]ince habit is 'semi-automatic, almost involuntary and invariably specific response to fairly specific stimuli," Dr. Ryan cannot reasonably testify that he treats or discharges every patient condition in the same semi-automatic manner. *Physicians Ins. Exchange v. Fisons Corp.*, 122 Wn.2d 299, 326, n. 39, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993). Dr. Ryan testified at trial that he has not seen a compartment syndrome from an extravasation before or since. VRP 808. It is therefore absurd to argue that he would have developed a routine to deal with such an occurrence. Further, no competent physician would give the exact same injury-specific instructions to every person discharged from the hospital.

Dr. Ryan admitted he has no memory of treating Mr. Figueroa, yet was nonetheless permitted to testify that he gave oral discharge instructions to Mr. Figueroa regarding his arm, despite the fact that the only written notes state, "no work and elevate arm." VRP 753, 803. Defendant now asserts that Dr. Ryan should have been permitted to further speculate about what he would have said or done. It is not the intent of ER 406 to permit a doctor to testify that proper specific instructions were given regardless of any memory or corroborating evidence. Such a reading would actively discourage the keeping of written records because doctors could later immunize themselves by simply claiming that they always gave proper discharge instructions. The Court of Appeals Opinion is thus consistent with precedent and the laws of this state. Accordingly, this Court should decline review.

b. There is no conflict between the Court of Appeals opinion and any other decision regarding ER 403.

The Court of Appeals properly also affirmed the trial court's exclusion of evidence of Mr. Figueroa's use of an alias when he checked into Highline Hospital. Under ER 403, otherwise "relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice..." An appellate court will overturn a trial court's balancing of the danger of prejudice against the probative value of

the evidence "only if no reasonable person could take the view adopted by the trial court." *State v. Posey*, 161 Wn.2d 638, 648, 167 P.3d 560 (2007).

Defendant continues to argue that the trial court relied on Salas v. High Tech Erectors, 168 Wn.2d 664, 670, 230 P.3d 583 (2010) to support the exclusion of the identity evidence despite the fact that the trial court specifically noted that Salas was not directly applicable to the case at bar. and did not base its ruling on that case. VRP 4; 680. The trial court examined Salas only for the proposition that it is the invitation to arouse prejudice, suspicion, and anger that caused the Court to disallow the minimally probative evidence. Id. at 668 (citing State v. Stenson, 132) Wn.2d 668, 701, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997)). The Court of Appeals similarly examined Salas for the principal that "When evidence is likely to stimulate an emotional response rather than a rational decision, the danger for unfair prejudice exists." Salas, 168 Wn.2d at 671. Thus under an ER 403 balancing test, whatever probative value the signatures may have was overwhelmed by the potential for prejudice and was likely to district the jury from dealing with the claim at hand: medical malpractice. VRP 6; 682.

The trial court properly ruled that evidence of an unrelated alleged wrongdoing on behalf of Mr. Figueroa was of minimal relevance for determining whether Dr. Ryan had committed medical malpractice,

especially in light of the associated potential for prejudice. Further, Defendant was able to elicit testimony from both Plaintiffs that Mr. Figueroa's signatures at entry and discharge were identical. As affirmed by the Court of Appeals, admission of the signatures had a substantial likelihood to cause prejudice, while the duplicative evidence provided by viewing the admittedly similar signatures had only incremental probative value. Nothing essential to Dr. Ryan's defense was excluded by the ruling.

Defendant argues that the Court of Appeals Opinion is in conflict with existing cases, but fails to examine a number of important facts. Defendant first cites to cases that stand for the generally accepted proposition that evidence crucially relative to a defense should not be excluded and that the trial court must balance the probative value against potential prejudice. For example, the court in *Carson v. Fine*, 123 Wn.2d 206, 867 P.2d 610 (1994) upheld a trial court's admission of challenged testimony by a treating physician. *Id.* at 224. The *Carson* court further noted that "Because of the trial court's considerable discretion in administering ER 403, reversible error is found only in the exceptional circumstance of a manifest abuse of discretion." *Id.* at 226, citing *State v. Gould*, 58 Wn.App. 175, 180, 791 P.2d 569 (1990); *State v. Gatalski*, 40 Wn.App. 601, 610, 699 P.2d 804, *review denied*, 104 Wn.2d 1019 (1985). The *Carson* court's holding thus stands for the simple proposition that

adverse testimony by a treating physician is evaluated the same as any other evidence challenged under ER 403. *Id.* at 226. Such testimony is not even the type of evidence excluded in the present case.

Similarly, the court in *State v. Brown*, 48 Wn.App. 654, 739 P.2d 1199 (1987) dealt with the exclusion of evidence that a rape victim had been heavily drinking and had ingested LSD prior to the rape. A central defense of in case was whether the victim had actually resisted sexual contact or had the ability to accurately perceive events at all. *Id.* at 660. There are no similar concerns in the present case, wherein the excluded signature was duplicative of testimony and is in no way probative of whether Dr. Ryan gave adequate instructions.

Nor does the Court of Appeals Opinion conflict with *Erikson v. Kerr*, 125 Wn.2d 183, 883 P.2d 313 (1994). At trial, the treating physician in *Erikson* repeatedly testified as to what he "'would have' done or is 'sure' he or [the Plaintiff] said in certain situations when the records are silent on those points." *Id.* at 191. The trial court excluded under ER 403 evidence that the physician could not remember when he spoke with the Plaintiff or even that his patient had died. This Court found that the excluded evidence was not cumulative, but instead was the only evidence probative of the treating physician's forgetfulness, and reversed. *Id.* This is wholly distinguishable from the present case, wherein there was already

testimony at trial that the signatures are substantially similar. It is not even proper impeachment evidence of Mr. Figueroa, as the record shows that Mr. Figueroa had no fraudulent intent but instead accurately included his contact information, lack of insurance, and later informed the hospital of his use of an alias. The excluded signatures are unduly prejudicial and are not crucial to Dr. Ryan's ability to present a defense, as Mr. Figueroa's use of an alias is at best minimally probative of whether Dr. Ryan met his standard of care.

The Court of Appeals Opinion accurately reflects the law of this state when a trial court must balance evidence under ER 403. There is no conflict with prior decisions, nor does the trial court's extremely limited and fact-specific ruling does not extend the breadth of ER 403, as argued by Defendant, beyond existing precedent. This Court should decline review.

c. Nothing in this Opinion calls the integrity of the Court into question.

Finally, Defendant seeks review by improperly attempting to raise an issue of judicial integrity, arguing that the trial court's rulings in this case prevented Defendant from fully litigating their theories of Plaintiff's "dishonesty." The extent of Mr. Figueroa's injury was heavily litigated at trial, including whether or not Mr. Figueroa "lied" about any aspects of his

injury. What Defendant fails to mention, however, is that he was permitted extensive opportunity to impeach Mr. Figueroa on his veracity.

During the cross examination of Mr. Figueroa, Defendant introduced as impeachment evidence an unauthenticated, unpublished, and previously undisclosed video clip that showed Mr. Figueroa performing physical activities. VRP 501. Despite Plaintiffs' extensive objections, the trial court admitted the video for the purpose of impeachment and it was shown to the jury. VRP 521. Additionally, the Defendant was able to elicit testimony from both Mr. and Mrs. Figueroa that Mr. Figueroa's signature was the same at discharge as it was at entry. VRP 681. All of this evidence was before the jury, who was able to make a determination of Mr. Figueroa's credibility. A reading of the record as a whole thus fails to demonstrate that the integrity of the court is called into question by either the trial court's rulings or the Court of Appeals' affirmation of those rulings.

111

///

111

111

///

VI. CONCLUSION

The decision of the Court of Appeals is consistent with established precedent and raises no issues of substantial public interest. Accordingly, the Petition fails to establish a basis for review under RAP 13.4. Plaintiff Figueroa respectfully request that this Court deny Defendant's Petition for Review.